

European Commission against Racism and Intolerance Commission européenne contre le racisme et l'intolérance

CRI(2008)2

European Commission against Racism and Intolerance

Third report on Latvia

Adopted on 29 June 2007

Strasbourg, 12 February 2008



Table of contents

F	OREWORD	3
E	XECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
I.	FOLLOW-UP TO ECRI'S SECOND REPORT ON LATVIA	5
	INTERNATIONAL LEGAL INSTRUMENTS	5
	CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND OTHER BASIC PROVISIONS	6
	- Official identification documents	6
	CRIMINAL LAW PROVISIONS	7
	CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE LAW PROVISIONS	10
	SPECIALISED BODIES AND OTHER INSTITUTIONS	12
	THE NATIONAL PROGRAMME "INTEGRATION OF SOCIETY IN LATVIA"	13
	EDUCATION AND AWARENESS-RAISING	14
	ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR ETHNIC MINORITIES	15
	RECEPTION AND STATUS OF IMMIGRANTS, REFUGEES AND ASYLUM SEEKERS	17
	- Immigrants	17
	- Refugees and asylum seekers	17
	VULNERABLE GROUPS	19
	- Non-citizens and the Russian-speaking population	
	- The Roma communities	
	- Visible minorities	21
	CONDUCT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICIALS	21
	MONITORING THE SITUATION	22
II.	SPECIFIC ISSUES	23
	THE NEED TO FIGHT RACISM AND INTOLERANCE IN LATVIA	23
	- Racist violence	23
	- Use of racist expressions in the public discourse	25
	THE SITUATION OF THE RUSSIAN-SPEAKING POPULATION	27
	- The issue of citizenship	
	- The issues relating to the State language	
	- The participation of the Russian-speaking population in public and life 32	l political
В	IBLIOGRAPHY	

Foreword

The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) was established by the Council of Europe. It is an independent human rights monitoring body specialised in questions relating to racism and intolerance. It is composed of independent and impartial members, who are appointed on the basis of their moral authority and recognised expertise in dealing with racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance.

One of the pillars of ECRI's work programme is its country-by-country approach, whereby it analyses the situation as regards racism and intolerance in each of the member States of the Council of Europe and makes suggestions and proposals as to how to tackle the problems identified.

The country-by-country approach deals with all member States of the Council of Europe on an equal footing. The work is taking place in 4-5 year cycles, covering 9-10 countries per year. The reports of the first round were completed at the end of 1998 and those of the second round at the end of the year 2002. Work on the third round reports started in January 2003.

The third round reports focus on "implementation". They examine if ECRI's main recommendations from previous reports have been followed and implemented, and if so, with what degree of success and effectiveness. The third round reports deal also with "specific issues", chosen according to the different situations in the various countries, and examined in more depth in each report.

The working methods for the preparation of the reports involve documentary analyses, a contact visit in the country concerned, and then a confidential dialogue with the national authorities.

ECRI's reports are not the result of inquiries or testimonial evidences. They are analyses based on a great deal of information gathered from a wide variety of sources. Documentary studies are based on an important number of national and international written sources. The in situ visit allows for meeting directly the concerned circles (governmental and non-governmental) with a view to gathering detailed information. The process of confidential dialogue with the national authorities allows the latter to propose, if they consider it necessary, amendments to the draft report, with a view to correcting any possible factual errors which the report might contain. At the end of the dialogue, the national authorities may request, if they so wish, that their viewpoints be appended to the final report of ECRI.

The following report was drawn up by ECRI under its own and full responsibility. It covers the situation as of 29 June 2007 and any development subsequent to this date is not covered in the following analysis nor taken into account in the conclusions and proposal made by ECRI.

Executive summary

Since the publication of ECRI's second report on Latvia on 23 July 2002, progress has been made in a number of the fields highlighted in that report. In 2006, criminal law to combat racism was reinforced through the introduction of an aggravating circumstance for all offences committed on racist grounds. In 2004, a clear prohibition of racial discrimination was included in the Labour Code. Several programmes have been adopted and are being implemented, including the National Programme "Integration of Society in Latvia", the National Programme for the Promotion of Tolerance in Latvia (2005-2009) and the National Action Plan on Roma in Latvia (2007-2009). Efforts have been made to increase the number of non-citizens being granted Latvian citizenship, either by encouraging or facilitating naturalisation. Measures have been taken to encourage the learning of the State language by members of ethnic minorities, including through the establishment of the National Agency for Latvian Language Training. An anti-discrimination unit was created within the Office of the Ombudsman.

However, a number of recommendations made in ECRI's second report have not been implemented, or have only been partially implemented. The number of raciallymotivated attacks targeting visible minorities has been increasing while the response to such attacks by the authorities including within the criminal law justice system cannot be deemed adequate. The use of racist discourse, by some politicians and in the media remains a problem. Such racist discourse is geared towards immigrants, particularly newcomers, asylum seekers and refugees, certain ethnic groups such as Roma, and religious minorities such as Muslims and Jews. Some media and politicians also try to stir up interethnic tensions between Latvians and the Russian-speaking population. The naturalisation process remains slow and there is an urgent need to solve the problems linked to the status of non-citizens which makes people concerned feel like "second-class citizens". There remain a number of problems as to the full integration of the Russian-speaking population, partly due to discrimination on the grounds of language in access to employment and to obstacles to the participation of this population in public and political life in Latvia. Roma communities continue to suffer from racism and discrimination, particularly in access to employment and education.

In this report, ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities take further action in a number of areas. ECRI asks for a more pro-active approach in countering racist violence and the use of racist discourse in politics and in the media, notably through implementing criminal law provisions against racism. ECRI recommends finding rapid and humane solutions for persons who live under the status of non-citizens. It asks for a balanced implementation of the State Language Law by giving priority to constructive and non-obligatory measures in favour of learning Latvian while preserving the use of minority languages. ECRI recommends fostering an integrated society in Latvia whereby the Russian-speaking population, Roma communities and immigrants feel accepted as an intrinsic element.

I. FOLLOW-UP TO ECRI'S SECOND REPORT ON LATVIA

International legal instruments

- 1. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI recommended that Latvia ratify the following international legal instruments: Protocol N° 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, the European Social Charter (Revised), the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages, the European Convention on Nationality, the Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level and the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers.
- 2. The Latvian authorities have explained that they do not consider it possible to ratify in the near future Protocol N° 12 to the ECHR, which provides for a general prohibition of discrimination and which was signed on 4 November 2000. ECRI notes with regret that a Bill submitted by a number of parliamentarians for the ratification of Protocol N° 12 was rejected by the Parliament in September 2006.
- 3. ECRI is pleased to note that Latvia ratified the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities on 6 June 2005. This instrument entered into force in Latvia on 1 October 2005. The Latvian authorities have explained that they are currently examining the possibility of ratifying the European Social Charter (Revised). The Ministry of Welfare is currently examining the compatibility of national legislation with the Charter, and plans to submit a draft law on the ratification of the Charter by January 2009.
- 4. As regards the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages, the Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level and the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers, the Latvian authorities have declared that they do not consider it possible to ratify these instruments in the near future. The Latvian authorities have indicated that a draft law on the ratification of the European Convention on Nationality was rejected by the Parliament on 25 May 2006.
- 5. Latvia has not yet signed the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, which has entered into force since ECRI's second report. The Latvian authorities have reported that there are no immediate plans for signature or ratification of this instrument.
- 6. ECRI notes with satisfaction that Latvia ratified the Convention on Cybercrime and its Additional Protocol concerning the criminalisation of acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems on 14 February 2007 and that these two instruments entered into force on 1 June 2007.

- 7. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that Latvia ratify the following international instruments as soon as possible: Protocol N° 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights, the European Social Charter (Revised), the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages, the European Convention on Nationality, the Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level, and the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers.
- 8. ECRI recommends that Latvia ratify as soon as possible the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families.
- 9. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI recommended that the Latvian authorities make the declaration under Article 14 of the International Convention on the

Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (CERD), which allows the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination to receive communications from individuals. The authorities have informed ECRI that there are no immediate plans for making the declaration under Article 14 of the CERD.

Recommendations:

 ECRI reiterates its recommendation that Latvia make the declaration provided for in Article 14 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, which allows the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination to receive communications from individuals.

Constitutional provisions and other basic provisions

11. ECRI is pleased to note that the Constitutional Court has applied the principle of non-discrimination as provided for in the Constitution and international legal instruments ratified by Latvia on several occasions. For example¹, in its second report ECRI asked the Latvian authorities to review the provision according to which the State and municipalities take part in the financing of private schools in accordance with the respective regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers only "if these institutions implement educational programmes in the state language." In November 2005, the Constitutional Court ruled that this provision was discriminatory as far as the requirement that the programmes were to be "in the state language" was concerned. ECRI notes with satisfaction that the authorities have taken the necessary steps to ensure that such a restriction does not apply anymore.

- Official identification documents

- 12. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI noted that the mention of nationality (here in the meaning of ethnic/national origin and not citizenship) had been removed from identification documents but also that there were reportedly delays in issuing replacement documents. ECRI encouraged the Latvian authorities to speed up this process.
- ECRI has been informed by the authorities that while the requirement to record a 13. person's ethnic origin was removed, the possibility of mentioning one's ethnic origin (e.g. Latvian, Russian or Jewish) on identification documents and particularly in passports of the Republic of Latvia, still exists but only at the holder's request (Article 5-4 of 2002 Law on Personal Identification Documents). Even though ECRI is not in possession of detailed information on the use of this option, it understands that there are a number of Latvian citizens who make use of this possibility. Therefore, passports which mention the ethnic origin of a person are still being issued and are still in circulation. Governmental as well as non-governmental sources have indicated that this is not a problem because the mention is on a voluntary basis. However, ECRI has received allegations according to which some people who wanted to indicate Latgalian as their ethnic origin have seen their request refused by the authorities who apparently do not recognise it as an ethnic origin distinct from Latvian. Others have indicated that they would not be entitled by the authorities to choose to indicate an ethnic origin different from the one which was indicated on their birth certificates. The authorities have explained that a person may freely change his or her personal records, including ethnicity, by producing evidence of the fact. This means that any person able to provide documentary evidence of his/her belonging to a particular ethnic group, may obtain the relevant mention in his/her passport once the changes have been made in the population register. The benefit of keeping

¹ As regards another decision of the Constitutional Court on the reform of education, see below, Section II Specific issues, The situation of the Russian-speaking population.

the possibility of mentioning one's ethnic origin on a passport is not self-evident, particularly because it does not seem to serve the purposes of monitoring discrimination on grounds of ethnic origin or addressing inequalities².

Recommendations:

- 14. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities closely examine the implementation and impact of the optional mention of the ethnic origin of a person on Latvian identification documents, including passports. ECRI recalls that any mention of ethnic origin should not only respect the principle of voluntary identification but also the principle of *self*-identification of the person as belonging to a particular ethnic group³.
- 15. In its second report, ECRI urged the authorities to ensure that the public was made aware of the possibility of adding one's original name to the Latvian version on identification documents, and that this possibility be thoroughly respected. On 2 March 2004, the Cabinet of Ministers adopted Regulation No. 114 "On the spelling and use in the Latvian language of persons' names, as well as their identification", with an aim to clarify the rules applying in this field. Despite this measure, ECRI notes that some persons have still expressed dissatisfaction at the way their names of non-Latvian origin are written on identification documents.

Recommendations:

16. ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities to reinforce their efforts to inform and explain to the persons concerned the language rules applying to names in official documents and to guarantee the right to reproduction of the original form of a name in addition to the Latvian version.

Criminal law provisions

- 17. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI recommended that the Latvian authorities introduce a provision into criminal legislation explicitly enabling the courts to take into account the racist motives of the offender as an aggravating circumstance when sentencing.
- 18. ECRI notes with satisfaction that on 21 October 2006 racist motivation was introduced into the list of aggravating circumstances to be taken into account by the courts when sentencing (Article 48 of the Criminal Code). Therefore, committing an offence on racist grounds may now be considered as an aggravating circumstance for all criminal offences in Latvia.
- 19. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI recommended that the criminal law provisions prohibiting racist speech address not only incitement to racial hatred but also cover cases where such speech takes the form of degrading or humiliating expressions based on characteristics such as national or ethnic origin. ECRI notes that until now no specific provision dealing with racist speech other than incitement to racial hatred has been introduced in the Criminal Code.
- 20. ECRI notes with interest that on 28 April 2005 a provision was added to Article 71 of the Criminal Code criminalising genocide, in order to prohibit incitement to genocide. The sentence provided for in this case is a deprivation of liberty for a term not exceeding eight years.
- 21. In June 2007, Articles 78 and 150 of the Criminal Code were replaced by new provisions aimed at combating incitement to racial hatred and racial

² See below, Monitoring the situation.

³ See also below, Monitoring the situation.

discrimination. As a result of this amendment, the distinction between racial discrimination on the one hand and racist speech on the other hand has become clearer. The three new provisions which entered into force on 19 July 2007 are the following: firstly, Article 78-1 (Incitement to National, Ethnic and Racial Hatred) stipulates that actions, knowingly intended to incite national, ethnic or racial hatred or enmity, are penalised by imprisonment for a term not exceeding three years, or community service, or with a fine not exceeding sixty times the minimum monthly wage. Under Article 78-2, when such acts are accompanied by violence, fraud or threats, or committed by a group of persons, a State official, or a responsible employee of a corporation, or when they are committed by using a data processing system, the applicable sentence is deprivation of liberty for a term not exceeding ten years. Secondly, Article 149¹ (Breaches of Prohibition of Discrimination) prohibits discrimination on the grounds of racial or ethnic membership, or other breaches of prohibited discrimination as provided in legislative enactments, if repeated within a one-year period. The applicable sanction is a fine not exceeding thirty times the minimum monthly wage⁴. Lastly, Article 150 (Incitement to Religious Enmity) prohibits offence against a person's religious feelings, or inciting enmity in relation to that person's attitude towards religion or atheism. The applicable sanction is deprivation of liberty for a term not exceeding two years, or community service, or a fine not exceeding forty times the minimum monthly wage⁵.

- 22. ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities in their efforts to review and fine-tune the criminal law provisions aimed at combating racism. Particular attention should be paid in this regard to racially motivated speech. In this respect, the Latvian authorities should take account of the section on criminal law provisions contained in ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination.
- 23. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI encouraged the Latvian authorities to provide further training on the subject of racist expressions to all actors involved in the criminal justice system, from the police to the prosecuting authorities and judges, and to further raise their awareness of the need to actively counter manifestations of such phenomena. At the same time, ECRI stressed that ways to encourage victims of such acts to come forward should be considered.
- 24. As regards implementation of the existing criminal law provisions to combat racism and racial discrimination, the Latvian authorities have indicated that since the entry into force of the Criminal Code in 1999, Article 150 (Violation of equality rights of persons on the basis of their attitudes towards religion) and 151 (interference with religious rituals) have never been applied. From 1999 until the end of 2006, proceedings under Article 78 (violation of national or racial equality and incitement to national or racial hatred) were introduced in 26 cases, out of which 13 were initiated in 2005. These cases mostly concern instances of racist speech, but also racist violence. The majority of the cases initiated in 2005 and 2006 are still under investigation while some have been re-qualified as hooliganism or closed for a lack of evidence or on other grounds. In 2007, a total of 12 cases were initiated on the basis of Article 78 of the Criminal Code. There is only a small number of those cases which have been brought to court and ended

⁴ When such acts are committed under the same aggravating circumstances as those described under Article 78-2 (see above), the applicable sanction is deprivation of liberty for a term not exceeding two years, or community service, or a fine not exceeding fifty times the minimum monthly wage.

⁵ When such acts are committed under the same aggravating circumstances as those described under Article 78-2 (see above), the applicable sanction is deprivation of liberty for a term not exceeding four years, or community service, or a fine not exceeding eighty times the minimum monthly wage.

up with conviction of the perpetrators (see below as concerns the sentences handed down in cases of racist speech or racist violence).

- 25. Anti-racist NGOs have indicated that these figures do not reflect the real level of racist speech and violence in the country. They have put forward several factors to explain this situation as regards racist attacks. A first element to be taken into account is that too often, the police investigate racist attacks as "hooliganism" (prohibited in Article 231 of the Criminal Code) instead of applying Article 78-2 (racist violence). Therefore, the racist motivation of the perpetrators is not sufficiently taken into account, even where it is very obvious or easy to prove, as for instance in some cases where skinheads were involved. However, ECRI is pleased to note that apparently, in recent months, police have tended to take the racist motivation of a physical attack more into account when investigating. Good practices such as training for police and judges as regards combating hate crime have been put into place by some NGOs or intergovernmental organisations. The authorities have indicated that the Latvian Judicial Training Centre organises legal training, seminars and courses for judges on several issues including racism and discrimination issues on a regular basis. However, a lot more remains to be done to raise the awareness of the police, the prosecution services and judges of the need to fight racism⁶.
- Several elements have been cited as the main obstacles to full implementation of 26. Article 78 with regard to racist speech. When the police are confronted with a complaint, they often refer it to experts in order to determine whether the speech can be gualified as incitement to racial hatred even in cases where the racist motivation is self-evident. The Latvian authorities have themselves stressed that there is a need to improve the expertise of police and prosecutors as regards racist speech in order to avoid requesting external expert advice before acting. Another argument sometimes put forward to justify the lack of prosecutions is freedom of expression, implying that people should be free to say and write anything they wish. However, ECRI recalls that the European Court of Human Rights has admitted in successive judgements that, under certain conditions, State authorities may restrict the exercise of this freedom by taking criminal sanctions against the authors of racist acts7. Lastly, the lack of trust in police and the criminal justice system in general on the part of victims has also been put forward as an explanation for the low number of racist acts being reported to the police. People apparently feel discouraged from bringing a case before the court as they tend to believe that this would only be a waste of time.
- 27. Another problem concerns the sentences handed down in cases of racist speech or racist violence. Anti-racist NGOs consider that until now the sentences pronounced under Article 78 and particularly 78-2 (racist violence) have been too lenient. It is only very recently that two persons were sentenced to a non-suspended prison sentence of respectively 6 months and 8 months for a violent racist attack. Except for that case, maximum sentences given usually range from fines to suspended prison sentences. NGOs and the press have welcomed that fixed prison sentence as an indication that from now on courts will hand down more adequate sentences in cases of racial violence. ECRI feels that the police, prosecutors and judges lack awareness about the implementation of criminal law provisions aimed at combating racism and intolerance, about what should be

⁶ See also below, Section II Specific Issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia.

⁷ See also ECRI's General Policy Recommendation N° 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, Paragraph 3: "The constitution should provide that the exercise of freedom of expression, assembly and association may be restricted with a view to combating racism. Any such restrictions should be in conformity with the European Convention on Human Rights". See also the Explanatory Memorandum to Paragraph 3 and Paragraph 18 of General Policy Recommendation N° 7 which indicates the acts that the national legislation should penalise.

considered as racist and about the need to combat such phenomena through criminal law⁸.

Recommendations:

- 28. ECRI strongly recommends that Latvian police and judicial authorities fully investigate and prosecute racially motivated offences by acknowledging and taking into account the racist motivation of an offence.
- 29. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities take a more pro-active approach in providing adequate training to judges, prosecutors and the police. It recommends, in this regard, that the authorities make them fully aware of the issues pertaining to racism and racial discrimination so that they can better address them when the need arises. ECRI thus strongly encourages the Latvian authorities to provide sufficient funds for such endeavours.
- 30. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities continue and reinforce their efforts to inform the public about the existence of criminal law provisions for sanctioning racially motivated acts. It recommends that they take steps to encourage victims and witnesses to report such acts.

Civil and administrative law provisions

- 31. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI encouraged the Latvian authorities to consider the adoption of a comprehensive body of civil and administrative legislation prohibiting racial discrimination in all fields of life.
- 32. ECRI notes with interest that the Latvian authorities have taken steps to complement the existing legislation prohibiting racial discrimination. The aim is to extend this prohibition to several fields of life and to improve the enforcement mechanisms of such legislation, in accordance with the two relevant European Union directives (Directive 2000/43/EC implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin and Directive 2000/78/EC establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation). The Secretariat of the Minister for Special Assignments for Society Integration is the body responsible for the transposition of these two directives.
- In particular, ECRI is pleased to learn that on 22 April 2004, the Labour Code 33. was amended in order to introduce a clear prohibition of discrimination, including on the grounds of race, skin colour, religious belief and national origin. The Labour Code now contains a definition and prohibition of direct and indirect discrimination, as well as a provision allowing for a shared burden of proof in discrimination cases. In 2005, similar provisions were incorporated into the Law on Social Security. ECRI notes that other pieces of legislation are to be amended to introduce the prohibition of discrimination. It understands that amendments to several laws, including the Law on State Civil Service and the Civil Law, are still pending before the Parliament⁹. Amendments were also brought or are to be adopted in order to improve the enforcement mechanisms for the prohibition of discrimination. For instance, the competencies of the Ombudsman have been extended to the field of combating discrimination¹⁰. It is also planned to grant NGOs the competence for acting on behalf of victims of discrimination before the relevant courts. ECRI welcomes all these developments which are bringing Latvian legislation closer to what it recommends in its General Policy

⁸ See also below, Section II Specific issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia.

⁹ As concerns amendments to the Criminal Code on the prohibition of racial discrimination, see above, Criminal law provisions.

¹⁰ For further detail, see below, Specialised bodies and other institutions.

Recommendation N° 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination.

- 34. ECRI notes with interest that in a case concerning a Roma woman who was discriminated against in access to work on ethnic grounds, on 25 May 2006 the Jelgava City Court sentenced the employer to pay compensation for mental pain and anguish of approximately 1 000 lats (1 400 euro) to the victim. The then Latvian National Human Rights Office (now the Ombudsman)¹¹ represented the victim before the Court in accordance with the new legal provisions on combating discrimination in the field of work. This case is all the more significant since it was the first case ever where a court recognised the existence of racial discrimination and sanctioned the perpetrator accordingly. Furthermore, this case is generally quoted as a positive precedent by human rights NGOs. In fact, it seems that it has played a role in changing the mentality of victims of racial discrimination who are now more ready to seek legal advice with NGOs or the Ombudsman and to use the legal remedies available to them than they were previously.
- 35. As a result of the Jelgava City Court case and a number of initiatives by both governmental and non-governmental agencies, such as the organisation of seminars for judges on the legal provisions prohibiting discrimination, including by the Latvian Judicial Training Centre and the Human Rights Institute of the University of Latvia, it is possible to say that the general level of awareness of the problem of racial discrimination, particularly in the field of work, has been raised in recent years. However, human rights NGOs and experts in anti-discrimination issues consider that these positive developments should only be deemed as a first step and that it is necessary to further inform the legal community as well as the general public of the existence of legal provisions prohibiting racial and other forms of discrimination in all fields of life. Indeed, ECRI notes that the Jelgava case remains isolated. In view of the numerous allegations according to which members of visible minorities - and particularly Roma¹² - suffer from discrimination in employment and other fields such as housing, there are still improvements to be made in the adoption and implementation of civil and administrative law provisions prohibiting racial discrimination.

- 36. ECRI strongly encourages the Latvian authorities in their efforts to adopt a comprehensive body of civil and administrative legislation prohibiting racial discrimination in all fields of life. In particular, ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities to adopt, in areas other than employment, provisions similar to those provided for in the Labour Code concerning the shared burden of proof and the victim's right to compensation in racial discrimination cases. These other areas include notably housing, education, goods and services intended for the public and access to public places, health, social protection, exercise of economic activity and public services. ECRI draws attention to its General Policy Recommendation No 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination which provides guidelines in this respect.
- 37. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities take further steps to train judges and lawyers appropriately in order to encourage the full implementation of the new provisions concerning the prohibition of racial discrimination. ECRI also recommends that the authorities provide the public with information, for example through an awareness raising campaign, about the existence of the new provisions outlawing racial discrimination.

¹¹ See below, Specialised bodies and other institutions.

¹² Concerning the situation of Roma in Latvia, see also below, The Roma communities.

Specialised bodies and other institutions

- 38. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI noted that at that time there were no plans to set up a specialised body with specific responsibility in the field of combating racism and intolerance as recommended in ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No 2 on specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level. ECRI encouraged the Latvian authorities to address this issue, either by considering the creation of a specialised body dedicated to combating racism and intolerance, or by allocating additional funds and personnel to the National Human Rights Office in order to establish a specialised section in this area.
- 39. ECRI notes with satisfaction that in December 2005 an anti-discrimination unit was created within the National Human Rights Office, competent for receiving complaints of, among other things, racial discrimination, including for cases between private parties. The National Human Rights Office may try first to settle the dispute itself, for instance through a conciliation procedure. In cases where this procedure fails, it can bring the case before courts and represent the victim of racial discrimination in judicial procedures. In fact, the only time when a Latvian court recognised the existence of a discrimination on the grounds of ethnic origin, the National Human Rights Office was representing the victim¹³.
- 40. On 1 January 2007, the National Human Rights Office became the Ombudsman, according to the 6 April 2006 Ombudsman Law. Under Article 4 of the Law, "the Ombudsman shall be independent in his or her activities and shall be governed exclusively by the law". The first Ombudsman was elected by Parliament on 1 March 2007. Article 11 of the Law provides that, among others, the Ombudsman shall have the functions to promote compliance with the principles of equal treatment and prevention of any kind of discrimination. Article 13-10 indicates that "upon termination of a verification procedure and establishment of a violation, (the Ombudsman has the right to) apply to a court in such civil cases where the nature of the action is related to a violation of the prohibition of differential treatment". This means that the Ombudsman is competent for all issues related to equal treatment and violation of the principle of non-discrimination, be it in cases between an individual and public authorities or in cases between two private parties, for example a private employer and its employee. ECRI notes that while the scope of action of the former National Human Rights Office has been significantly enlarged due to its transformation into an Ombudsman, it has also received additional funds and means to deal with all its new functions. It is also a positive fact that the Ombudsman keeps a clear statutory competence and leadership role in combating racial discrimination in Latvia. ECRI believes however that the anti-discrimination unit should be given all necessary means to continue its work.
- 41. As concerns the work of the National Human Rights Office before it became an Ombudsman, ECRI notes that according to the statistics provided by this office, it has dealt only rarely with complaints of discrimination in general. The discrimination complaints on racial grounds are even more rare. For instance, for the year 2006, the National Human Rights Office received in total 1 926 written applications and made 3 517 oral consultations, out of which only 109 written applications and 238 oral consultations concerned discrimination in general. When it comes to discrimination on the grounds covered by ECRI's mandate, i.e. race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin, the numbers are rather low: 9 written applications and 40 oral consultations concerned discrimination on the grounds of race or nationality, 14 written applications and 14 oral consultations concerned discrimination on the grounds

¹³ For more detail about this case, see above, Civil and administrative law provisions.

of language, and there were no complaints at all concerning discrimination on the grounds of religion. According to civil society associations, rather than an indication of the real situation as concerns racial discrimination in the country, this reflects more the fact that the general public is sufficiently aware neither of their rights nor of the existence and competencies of the Ombudsman in the field of combating racial discrimination.

42. ECRI has been informed by the office of the Ombudsman that it plans to fine-tune its statistics. In fact, ECRI believes that more detailed figures which would include statistics on the ethnic or national origin, religion, language and nationality of the people with whom the Ombudsman is in contact, are needed. It would be interesting to look at, for instance, the percentage of ethnic minorities who complain of ill treatment from the police or in prisons to see whether they are over-represented in terms of the percentage they make up in the population as a whole. More generally, such data could be used to bring possible existing indirect discrimination against minority groups to the forefront. This would allow the Ombudsman to propose concrete measures aimed at combating this kind of discrimination¹⁴. It is also planned that the Ombudsman take steps in order to improve accessibility of its office to the general public and to potential victims. For instance, the office will probably review its website, notably so as to make it accessible in several languages including Russian. Several awareness-raising campaigns about the powers of the Ombudsman are planned in 2008 including information packs, seminars, conferences and TV advertisement. Finally, the possibility of creating local branches of the Ombudsman throughout the country will also be envisaged.

Recommendations:

43. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities continue to provide support to the Office of the Ombudsman, especially in view of its mandate for fighting discrimination. It recommends in this regard that the authorities carry out awareness-raising campaigns throughout the country, on the Ombudsman's powers in general and on its functions concerning fighting racial discrimination in particular. ECRI also recommends that the authorities provide the Ombudsman with sufficient funds and human resources and that they support the Ombudsman's efforts to improve the accessibility of this institution in different languages and in the different regions of Latvia.

The National Programme "Integration of Society in Latvia"

44. In its second report, ECRI already noted with interest the existence of a National Programme entitled "Integration of Society in Latvia". Its aim is to strengthen a democratic, inclusive and civil society and to promote values such as human rights for all groups of the society, mutual respect, understanding and social responsibility. The "Society Integration Policy Basic Principles 2008-2018" is a state policy-planning framework document in the area of societal integration for the period 2008-2018 which was drafted in consultation with NGOs. All these programmes are to be implemented notably thanks to the work of the Minister for Special Assignments for Society Integration, and the funding of the Society Integration Foundation. The programme currently implemented is generally welcome as a very positive initiative by NGOs and representatives of minority groups. However, some have the feeling that in Latvia integration measures remain too much focused on the promotion of the State language and do not deal enough with ethnic integration as such or integration of newcomers, including immigrants on the one hand and asylum seekers and refugees on the other

¹⁴ See also below, Monitoring the situation.

hand¹⁵. Others have stressed that it is essential that integration issues remain high in the political agenda and that measures should be taken to ensure that funds and institutions like the Minister for Special Assignments for Society Integration do not disappear in the future.

Recommendations:

45. ECRI strongly recommends that the Latvian authorities maintain and reinforce all their efforts in favour of the integration of the Latvian society, on a long-term basis. A particular emphasis could be put on promoting inter-ethnic relations and on reception of immigrants, including newcomers, as well as asylum seekers and refugees¹⁶. The authorities should pay a particular attention to ensure coordination and co-operation in the implementation of integration measures both within the government and between the public authorities involved and the relevant partners from civil society.

Education and awareness-raising

- 46. ECRI notes with interest the existence of a National Programme for the Promotion of Tolerance in Latvia (2005-2009). This medium-term policy instrument was drafted in the context of several international documents including ECRI's second report on Latvia and its General Policy Recommendation N° 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination. Its overall objective is the formation of a tolerant Latvian society, the elimination of intolerance and the further development of a multicultural society under conditions of European integration and globalisation. Its secondary objectives are the promotion of inter-agency co-operation in the field of combating intolerance; an active public participation in monitoring actions to combat intolerance; and the distribution of reliable, widely accessible and exhaustive information about manifestations of intolerance and activities to promote tolerance. Some of the measures which have been taken in the framework of these programmes are discussed in other parts of this report.
- As concerns school education, many positive steps have been taken to promote 47. diversity, for instance in the framework of the National Programme for the Promotion of Tolerance in Latvia and the National Programme "Integration of Society in Latvia". The authorities have indicated that issues such as education on diversity, human rights, anti-racism education, and teaching on several minorities' culture and history are disseminated and dealt with in several subjects including history, literature and civic education, in accordance with the Cabinet of Ministers' Regulation N° 1027 of 19 December 2006 on standards for primary education and other regulations on standards for secondary education. A recent survey on diversity in textbooks shows that further efforts are needed to ensure that the teaching material used in all schools, both in minority and mainstream institutions, and at all levels could be improved by removing racist stereotypes and prejudice which remain in some cases. The Ministry of Education has explained to ECRI that following two studies on diversity they are reviewing the curriculum to better reflect diversity, notably in the subjects of social sciences. School textbooks are published following approval by the Centre for Curriculum Development and Examinations within the Ministry of Education, which checks whether books respect children's rights including the right to racial equality. The Centre also checks that history textbooks reflect the national and ethnic minorities' role in the historical processes. ECRI also notes the existence of interesting pilot projects in some classes on teaching the Holocaust in school,

¹⁵ See however, the "Step by step" project mentioned below, Refugees and asylum seekers.

¹⁶ See below, Reception and status of immigrants, refugees and asylum seekers, and Section II Specific Issues - The situation of the Russian-speaking population.

complementary to the general history courses on this subject, which could be extended to the whole school system.

Recommendations:

- 48. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities continue and reinforce their efforts to promote diversity in school education. In particular, ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities to ensure that the issues of mutual respect, racism and racial discrimination are properly addressed in school curricula and in teacher training on human rights. In this respect ECRI draws attention to its General Policy Recommendation N° 10 on combating racism and racial discrimination in and through school education, which provides guidelines in this field.
- 49. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities pursue their work on quality control of school curricula and textbooks. Textbooks should not contain any racist prejudice or stereotypes concerning any minority group. ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities to revise school curricula and textbooks, particularly history books, so as to make pupils aware of the advantages of a multicultural society.

Access to education for ethnic minorities

- 50. Latvia has an educational system composed of a majority of public schools with instruction entirely in Latvian and 200 public schools with instruction partly in Latvian and partly in a language other than Latvian (hereafter: minority schools). Of these minority schools, 179 give instruction partly in Latvian and partly in Russian. There are also a few schools giving instruction partly in Latvian and partly in one of the following languages: Polish, Hebrew, Ukrainian, Estonian, Lithuanian and Belarusian. Taking into account the fact that Latvian is the official language and from the standpoint of guaranteeing equality of opportunities, ECRI points out the need to ensure a high standard of education in minority schools. If not, that jeopardises the chances of pupils from minority schools of being competitive on the employment market or for entry to higher education¹⁷.
- 51. The Education reform to give more weight to teaching in Latvian in minority secondary schools was implemented in September 2004. In grades 10-12 of state and municipal general education institutions the number of subjects taught in Latvian has increased from three to five. On the one hand the existence of bilingual schools potentially improves minority children's chances of having a better command of Latvian when they leave school. On the other hand the move to make Latvian the compulsory language of instruction for 60% of the subjects taught in minority schools has caused deep concern.
- 52. The introduction of this reform of the system and programmes at secondary minority schools led to massive protests and demonstrations in the streets in 2003 and 2004. Some members of ethnic minorities were afraid of Latvian taking over to such an extent that their children would no longer be proficient in their mother tongue. It was also alleged that the Russian-speaking population was not sufficiently involved and consulted during the rushed adoption of the new legislation on education even though this legislation has huge consequences for the future of this population. Now that the reform is being implemented, the massive protests have stopped, but tensions still remain. A main concern remains among the Russian-speaking population about the proportion between instruction in Latvian and Russian and the overall quality of education in minority schools.

¹⁷ Concerning access to education of Roma children, see below, Vulnerable groups – The Roma communities.

- Representatives of parents of children in minority schools consider that in general 53. the teachers who now have to teach in Latvian subjects they used to teach in another language do not have sufficient command of Latvian yet. Reportedly, there is also a lack of adequate teaching material. In general, representatives of Russian-speaking families consider that the quality of education in minority schools suffers from the lack of preparation of the teachers. They explain that the pupils attending these schools already feel the negative consequences in their school results. The authorities, on their part, admit that there are still some problems to solve in a small number of schools, particularly as concerns the training of teachers. However, they consider that the reform has had no adverse effect on the level of education of children attending minority schools. ECRI notes that on 13 May 2005, the Constitutional Court ruled that the above-mentioned reform was not unconstitutional as such, provided that an effective education quality monitoring mechanism be introduced. Following this decision, on 18 October 2005, the State Agency for General Education Quality Assurance was established. One of its main tasks is to monitor the guality of education in minority schools and it should therefore be able to draw attention to any problems existing in this field. ECRI notes that a public survey is being conducted on the consequences of the reform. There is a Consultative Council for Issues of National Minorities Education, founded in 2001, whose tasks include the promotion of the integration of national minorities into Latvian society and the preservation of national cultures. One of the Council's objectives is to help in maintaining dialogue between the Ministry of Education, teachers, pupils in minority schools and their parents.
- 54. A number of parents belonging to ethnic minorities increasingly make the choice to send their children to Latvian schools, even though their own command of Latvian is not always sufficient to assist the children in their homework. However, teachers of those Latvian schools have not been sufficiently prepared to teach to children whose parents belong to ethnic minorities. The authorities have indicated that they are aware of these difficulties and that they envisage taking measures to solve them in the nearest future. Apparently measures which could be taken in this field include relevant training of professors and language courses for parents who do not master Latvian.

- 55. ECRI strongly recommends that the Latvian authorities maintain their efforts to improve education in Latvian for children of ethnic minorities, and particularly Russian-speaking children, in order to guarantee that when they leave school they will have equal access to higher education and employment. In this respect, ECRI draws attention to its General Policy Recommendation N° 10 on combating racism and racial discrimination in and through school education which provides guidelines in this field.
- 56. At the same time ECRI strongly recommends to the Latvian authorities that adequate room be left in minority schools for teaching minority languages and cultures. The Latvian authorities must therefore do everything possible to ensure that the new system of bilingual education in minority schools is not perceived by the ethnic minorities as a threat to their cultures and languages.
- 57. In general ECRI recommends adopting an approach in which all measures concerning the schooling of children of ethnic minorities, particularly measures to promote the teaching of Latvian, are taken progressively, in consultation with the minorities concerned and with due regard for their interests.

Reception and status of immigrants, refugees and asylum seekers

Immigrants

- 58. The Immigration Law came into force on 1 May 2003. It widens the range of persons who are entitled to receive temporary and permanent residence permits and contains a number of measures to safeguard personal rights during any detention of migrants without legal status¹⁸.
- The number of immigrants living in Latvia is rather low. In 2005 for instance, there 59. were 7 659 (about 0.4% of the total population) foreigners with temporary residence permits. ECRI notes that a Programme for the Development of a Comprehensive Migration and Asylum Management System (2005-2009) was adopted at governmental level. Its aims include harmonising respective national legislation and the activities of various institutions and bodies dealing with these issues. The increasing emigration of the Latvian labour force to other EU countries in recent years seems to have caused a shortage in the labour force in Latvia and a need to attract foreign workers. However, public surveys show that the general public in Latvia is rather reluctant and distrustful when asked about the influx of immigrants coming to work in Latvia. For instance in a recent survey, 70% of respondents admitted being negative towards the arrival of labour migrants from other countries. This negative attitude is worrying in a context whereby labour immigration is likely to increase due to the recent entry of Latvia into the European Union and against the background of the use of intolerant discourse by the media and politicians towards immigrants, particularly newcomers, as mentioned in another part of this report¹⁹. Furthermore, immigrants belonging to visible minorities, for instance Africans or Asians, are vulnerable to racist violence²⁰.

Recommendations:

60. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities reinforce their efforts to adopt an immigration policy which contains measures to promote the integration of immigrants in Latvia, notably through combating stereotypes and prejudice among the general public against immigrants. The Latvian authorities should make sure that integration measures seek to foster mutual respect between immigrants and the majority society, which must be made aware of the cultural enrichment and economic contribution resulting from immigration in Latvia.

- Refugees and asylum seekers

- 61. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI noted that a new draft Asylum Law was pending before the Parliament and that it provided for an accelerated procedure whereby applications would be submitted to border control officials. ECRI was concerned that such a procedure might enhance the risk of violation of the principle of non-refoulement. ECRI was also concerned that safeguards against the use of detention pending expulsion had still not been introduced, which resulted in the possible detention for indefinite periods of time of asylum seekers who could not be deported for technical reasons.
- 62. ECRI notes that the revised Asylum Law was adopted on 7 March 2002 and that it brought many positive amendments to the asylum procedure. Those

¹⁸ See also below, Refugees and asylum seekers.

¹⁹ See below, Section II Specific Issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia : Use of racist expressions in the public discourse.

²⁰ See below, Section II Specific Issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia : Racist violence.

amendments as well as others which followed, for instance in 2005, alongside with amendments to immigration legislation²¹, have improved the legislation on asylum seeker and refugee status, in particular as regards conditions and criteria for the detention of asylum seekers, and access to education and healthcare for asylum seekers. The Parliament is currently modifying the Law in order to transpose relevant EU directives. The United Nation Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) and relevant human rights NGOs consider that additional improvements are needed, in particular as regards further clarification of the criteria and conditions for the detention of asylum seekers, the accelerated procedure which gives insufficient time-frames for submitting an appeal, and access to free legal aid. ECRI notes that the authorities intend to prolong the time-frame within the accelerated procedure as they also consider it to be too short to guarantee the rights and interests of asylum seekers. ECRI also notes with interest that from 1st January 2007 the 2005 Law on legal aid guarantees the right to legal assistance for asylum seekers.

- 63. The Office of Citizenship and Migration Affairs explains in its 2005 Public Report that due to economic conditions in Latvia and its geographic location, the country is not a country of destination for most asylum seekers and therefore the number of applications for asylum is low. For instance, the office received 20 applications for asylum in 2005 and only 8 in 2006. Since 1998, a total of 190 persons have applied for asylum. There are currently 15 persons with refugee status and 18 persons with an alternative status in Latvia.
- 64. In 2005, a project called "Step by Step" was launched under the auspices of the European Union initiative EQUAL. Amongst other things, it aims at fostering the social integration of asylum seekers. ECRI welcomes this project which includes many initiatives such as awareness-raising activities for youngsters on the situation of asylum seekers, training on cultural diversity for professionals working with asylum seekers, and a survey on societal attitudes towards asylum seekers. This study, alongside others, has shown that asylum seekers and refugees suffer from racist stereotypes and prejudice, which are reflected in public discourse and particularly in the media and in politics²². Asylum seekers and refugees belonging to visible minorities, for instance Africans or Asians, are also vulnerable to racist violence²³. In general, the UNHCR and human rights NGOs stress the need for additional training for officials and social workers who are in contact with asylum seekers and refugees both on procedural aspects and on the need to counter prejudice against this group of persons.

- 65. In view of the current revision of the Asylum Law, ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the authorities further improve this legislation, in particular as regards the criteria and conditions for the detention of asylum seekers, the accelerated procedure which gives insufficient time-frames for submitting an appeal, and access to free legal aid.
- 66. ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities to pursue their efforts to facilitate the integration of asylum seekers and refugees notably through combating stereotypes and prejudice among the general public against these groups of persons. It recommends that the Latvian authorities provide all officials in contact

²¹ See above, Immigrants.

²² See below, Section II Specific Issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia : Use of racist expressions in the public discourse.

²³ See below, Section II Specific Issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia : Racist violence.

with asylum seekers and refugees with training on human rights, including the principle of non-discrimination, and on the procedure to grant asylum.

Vulnerable groups

- Non-citizens and the Russian-speaking population

67. This issue is dealt with in Section II of this report.

- The Roma communities

- 68. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Latvian authorities adopt several measures to improve the situation of Roma/Gypsies (hereafter: Roma) in Latvia in different areas, including employment, education and combating racist stereotypes against Roma²⁴. ECRI is concerned that the situation of Roma in Latvia has not improved overall since the publication of its previous report. Officially, there are 8 500 Roma in Latvia, even though according to some estimates, there could be as many as between 13 000 and 15 000. It is difficult to assess the exact figures as an undetermined number of Latvian Roma have left for other European Union countries. The majority of Roma have to contend with numerous difficulties, resulting in the marginalisation of Roma communities in Latvia. Human rights NGOs, representatives of Roma communities and the Latvian authorities agree that these communities, surveys and polls substantiate these claims.
- 69. ECRI deplores the fact that a large number of Roma still live in difficult, if not very difficult conditions. It seems that for several reasons but particularly because of the racist prejudices that persist among certain employers, Roma suffer racial discrimination in recruitment. On a positive note, as already mentioned above²⁵, in a case concerning a Roma woman who was discriminated against in access to work on ethnic grounds, a court sentenced the employer to pay compensation for mental pain and anguish to the victim²⁶. Furthermore, ECRI notes allegations that some Roma are prevented, because of their ethnic origin, from accessing public services such as social housing as well as public places in some cases, also mainly due to racist prejudice against them.
- 70. As regards access to education for Roma children, ECRI is very concerned to learn that the school drop-out rate among them is very high. There are very few Roma children who pursue their studies beyond the primary school level. ECRI is especially concerned to learn that Roma children are occasionally faced with hostile reactions from some teachers, and some non-Roma pupils and parents. ECRI also notes that, according to NGOs and Roma representatives, Roma culture and the Romani language are not yet sufficiently taught and promoted, especially in schools attended by Roma²⁷.
- 71. From 2000 onwards, some schools have opened special classes with the first laudable intention to give additional support to children in difficulty in order to allow them to reintegrate mainstream classes a soon as possible. However, the situation has rapidly deteriorated into a *de facto* ethnic segregation as these remedial classes have been attended solely by ethnic Roma, sometimes all gathered in the same class irrespective of their age and actual level of

²⁴ Concerning the last point, see below, Section II Specific issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia - Racist violence and Use of racist expressions in the public discourse.

²⁵ See Civil and administrative law provisions.

²⁶ For more detail about this case, see above, Civil and administrative law provisions.

²⁷ See also above, Education and awareness-raising.

knowledge. Parents of Roma children have sometimes approved such a solution, finding that it is too difficult for their children to endure the hostility of non-Roma in mainstream classes. However, ECRI is pleased to note that some initiatives have been taken to encourage mainstream school attendance by Roma children. One example is the pilot education project of "Roma children at school: You are welcome", funded by the European Union and the State through the Society Integration Foundation, which included the establishment of four Romani parents support centres. Other initiatives supported by State funds include a project on Roma teaching assistants, and the organisation of seminars to discuss the integration of Roma children in schools. While many of these controversial Roma classes have been closed, ECRI regrets that some of them apparently still exist.

- 72. There seem to be generally tense relations between members of the Roma communities and the police. ECRI notes that there are allegations that the police discriminate against Roma, particularly in stops and controls of identity and in the field of combating drug-related criminality. Some studies show that Latvian police tend to resort to practices of racial profiling²⁸. ECRI notes that in June 2003, four police officers were tried for the murder of a Roma man. However, the Court of first instance declared the police officers not guilty for lack of evidence. The judge was given a reprimand for violation of the principle of accessibility of the courts, as the widow of the Roma man, the translator and journalists had been refused access to the audience. The prosecutor has brought an appeal against the acquittal of the police officers and the decision is still pending. In this field, ECRI draws the authorities' attention to the recommendations made below, in the section on the conduct of law enforcement officials.
- 73. ECRI welcomes the efforts of the national authorities which have taken initiatives relating specifically to Roma. The three-year National Action Plan on Roma in Latvia (2007-2009) contains specific measures for the inclusion of Roma. The Action Plan aims at tackling unemployment and problems in access to education for Roma and at combating racism and racial discrimination against Roma. The Action Plan is at an early stage and it is too soon to say whether it will be successful. ECRI notes that the Action Plan was adopted in consultation with Roma representatives and that three Roma NGOs take part in the Programme Council supervising its implementation. The Action Plan is generally welcomed as a first positive step in the right direction. Of course a lot will depend on the means that the State will provide for its implementation with regard to genuine political will as well as human and financial resources. It seems that for the first year (2007) the Action Plan was allocated 53 755 lats, which seems insufficient in view of the ambitious objectives of the document.

- 74. ECRI strongly encourages the Latvian authorities to continue to take all necessary measures to assist members of Roma communities in obtaining employment. It is imperative that such a policy to facilitate employment for Roma be accompanied by measures to prohibit any discriminatory conduct by employers who refuse to take on Roma on the grounds of their ethnic origin.
- 75. ECRI strongly recommends that the Latvian authorities take steps to combat racial discrimination against Roma with regard to access to public places and access to goods and services, ensuring in particular that any discriminatory act in these areas is duly remedied. The authorities should take measures to sanction racial profiling and any other form of racial discrimination by the police against Roma.

²⁸ See also below, Conduct of law enforcement officials.

- 76. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to reinforce their efforts, in conjunction with Roma communities, to encourage regular school attendance by Roma children and to tackle the problem of the high school drop-out rate. In particular, ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities take steps to close any remaining special classes for Roma and to find solutions to integrate Roma students in mainstream classes. In this respect, ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities pursue and step up their efforts to promote Roma culture and the Romani language among teachers and pupils.
- 77. ECRI strongly recommends that the Latvian authorities duly implement and reinforce where necessary the National Action Plan on Roma in Latvia (2007-2009). The authorities should provide all necessary human and financial resources to this end. They should consider adopting an all-encompassing long-term national strategy to combat the social exclusion of Roma.

- Visible minorities

78. This issue is dealt with in Section II of this report: The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia.

Conduct of law enforcement officials

- 79. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI recommended the creation of an independent mechanism, separate from the police structures, for investigating allegations of police misconduct. In addition, it encouraged the Latvian authorities to provide law enforcement officers with further initial and on-going training to promote awareness of all issues related to discrimination.
- 80. Even though ECRI understands that there are complaints of misconduct against the police, the authorities have indicated that they have received no complaints of racial discrimination or racially-motivated misconduct on the part of the police. However, as mentioned in several other parts of this report, there seem to be communication problems between the police and members of some minority groups²⁹. Allegedly, members of the Roma communities are victims of racial profiling on the part of the police³⁰. For instance, they are reportedly disproportionately stopped by police officers in the streets. Another problem seems to be the lack of trust among the visible minorities towards the police, due in some cases to previous negative experience, which means that they tend to report neither cases of racist attacks against them on the part of private individuals nor racially-motivated misconduct on the part of police officers³¹. ECRI notes that it is possible to bring a complaint of police misconduct before several authorities including the newly established Security Bureau within the security police, prosecutors and the Ombudsman.
- 81. ECRI notes that courses in human rights are provided for law enforcement officers. Training on diversity and policing as well as on how to combat hate crimes has also been organised in the framework of several projects³². It is generally recognised that the representation of minority groups, including the Russian-speaking population, within the police, for instance in the city of Riga, is more or less satisfactory and considered by the authorities as an asset which

²⁹ See below, Section II Specific issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia - Racist violence.

³⁰ See also above, The Roma communities.

³¹ See also above, Criminal law provisions, and below, Section II Specific issues - The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia - Racist violence.

³² See also above, Criminal law provisions.

should be sustained. The same cannot be said for Roma representation within the police.

Recommendations:

- 82. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to take steps to prohibit racial profiling by the police. ECRI draws the authorities' attention to its General Policy Recommendation N° 11 on combating racism and racial discrimination in policing, which provides guidelines in this field.
- 83. ECRI strongly encourages the Latvian authorities to allocate all the necessary resources to law enforcement officers to enable them to operate under appropriate conditions, with strict respect for the human rights and dignity of the people they arrest or who come into contact with them. This presupposes improving training in human rights and raising awareness of racism and racial discrimination issues. Further emphasis should also be placed on training in cultural diversity.

Monitoring the situation

- 84. ECRI notes with satisfaction that some scientific studies, polls and surveys were recently published in Latvia in fields of interest to ECRI, such as studies on interethnic relations, on integration, on intolerance, and on diversity in schools. Other studies have been or are being conducted for instance on the reasons why some non-citizens do not apply for citizenship³³. Many of these studies have been carried out by the authorities themselves or at least ordered and financed by them as well as by international partners, including the European Union. ECRI believes that these studies are helpful in identifying the main problems in Latvia as concerns racism and racial discrimination. They should therefore be used as a basis for preparing policies and strategies for combating racism and racial discrimination in Latvia.
- 85. ECRI considers that it is important that studies which include statistics be undertaken to ascertain whether there is any direct or indirect discrimination against minority groups based on ethnic origin, religion, nationality (meaning citizenship), or language and if so, to find the best way of dealing with such discrimination. Particular attention should be paid to language discrimination as there are signs of direct and indirect discrimination on the labour market³⁴.
- 86. The Data Protection Inspector is responsible for ensuring compliance with legislation which prohibits, in principle, the gathering of sensitive data, including information on racial or ethnic origin, although exceptions are possible. The Data Protection Inspector has taken action on several occasions to prohibit the holding of certain files based on sensitive data which did not have a legitimate aim, particularly where religious data is concerned. ECRI notes that the Latvian law allows for the collection of data broken down according to categories such as ethnic origin, language and religion when there is a legitimate aim, such as combating direct or indirect discrimination, when the people concerned give their explicit, free and informed consent and provided that the data remains anonymous. Studies of this type would make it easier to choose effective measures to rectify the problems identified.

³³ On this last point, see below, Section II Specific issues - The situation of the Russian-speaking population – The issue of citizenship.

³⁴ See below, Section II Specific issues - The situation of the Russian-speaking population – The issues relating to the State Language.

Recommendations:

- 87. ECRI strongly encourages the Latvian authorities to continue supporting and financing studies, surveys and polls on subjects which are of relevance to the fight against racism and racial discrimination, including work on interethnic relations, on integration, and how minority groups are perceived by the majority population.
- 88. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities consider the ways and means of introducing a coherent and complete data gathering system for monitoring the situation of minority groups by collecting relevant information broken down according to categories such as ethnic origin, language, religion and nationality. Such data should be gathered in different areas of policy, and the authorities should ensure that this is done in all cases with due respect for the principles of confidentiality, informed consent and the voluntary self-identification of persons as belonging to a particular group. These systems should also take into consideration the gender dimension, particularly from the point of view of possible double or multiple discrimination.

II. SPECIFIC ISSUES

The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia

89. In this section, ECRI wishes to express its concern at reports from several sources according to which both racist violence and racist speech have been more prevalent in recent years in Latvia. Therefore, it would like to draw the Latvian authorities' attention to this worrying trend and make specific recommendations in this field, which are complementary to those already made in other parts of this report³⁵.

- Racist violence

- 90. In its second report, ECRI already expressed its concern at the presence of Latvian and Russian racist extremist groups, including neo-Nazi groups, and at their activities in Latvia. ECRI called for a more vigorous response on the part of the Latvian authorities to the activities of such organisations.
- 91. ECRI has received worrying information from many different sources according to which the number of racially-motivated attacks has been on the rise since its last report. These attacks often take the form of verbal abuse accompanied by physical assault, sometimes resulting in a person being seriously injured. According to NGOs, there are a number of persons, particularly among the Roma community, who do not report such attacks to the police³⁶, which makes it difficult to ascertain the real extent of this problem. There are also reports of antisemitic acts against property belonging to Jewish communities, including several cases of vandalism of Jewish cemeteries and the deliberate destruction of a religious monument.
- 92. According to several sources, including representatives of visible minorities, members of visible minorities are feeling increasingly unsafe in some surroundings in Riga, particularly in the city centre and in the old town, mainly at night-time but also in daylight. They reportedly experience an increasingly aggressive behaviour on the part of groups of youngsters, often dressed and behaving as skinheads. During a public event on racism held in February 2006, the Latvian Minister of Foreign Affairs said that "Latvia is no longer protected from

³⁵ See above, Criminal law provisions.

³⁶ See above, Criminal law provisions, and Vulnerable group – The Roma communities.

expressions of racism, which is particularly noticeable on the streets of Riga during the dark hours of the day and during the dark months"³⁷.

- 93. The most vulnerable groups to such racist violence are visible minorities such as Africans, persons of African descent, Central and other Asians, and Roma, as well as Jews. For instance, a Rabbi experienced such a perilous situation in 2005, whereby he managed to escape a group of youngsters who were pursuing him and shouting antisemitic slogans at him. During the same year, similar events allegedly occurred to an Indian, an American of African descent and an Egyptian. Even more worrying are reports according to which the police do not always behave in an appropriate manner when victims come to complain to them about these racist attacks. In fact, there seem to be cases of police harassment of members of visible minorities who have come to police stations to bring a complaint. The publicly known case of a group of Somalis who went to the police in January 2007 to report that they had been beaten up is a regrettable example. According to several sources, they were sent from one police station to another before they could bring their complaint³⁸.
- 94. ECRI has been informed by the Latvian authorities that, according to them, the number of skinhead groups in Latvia is rather low and that there is a special unit in the police keeping their activities under review. They consider that the situation is under control as these activities are not too intense. However, ECRI is concerned at numerous reports on the part of civil society according to which the authorities do not really control the situation. According to non official sources, skinheads and right wing extremist groups' activities are on the rise both among ethnic Latvians and ethnic Russians, notably under the influence of regular contacts with similar groups outside Latvia. These groups are reportedly more visible and more organised throughout Latvia. It seems urgent for the police to monitor closely the situation in this field and for other authorities to try to find solutions to counter the extreme-right tendencies amongst young people and other segments of society.
- 95. More generally, the main concern of experts in the fight against racism is the widespread denial of the problem of racist violence both on the part of the public and the authorities. Claiming that Latvia is a tolerant society, they tend to remain indifferent and/or undermine the problem by speaking of "isolated cases" without really recognising, or being aware of, the real number of violent manifestations of intolerance in the country. However, ECRI finds it encouraging that the President of Latvia as well as some high-level officials have made several statements drawing attention to the increasing level of intolerance in Latvia and to the need for urgent measures to respond to this trend. ECRI has also mentioned in other parts of the report that police, prosecutors and judges have begun to receive training on how to combat hate crime. It seems that police patrols have increased on the streets of Riga, a factor which should help in preventing racist attacks from taking place. While welcoming these positive developments, ECRI considers that there is an urgent need for additional measures to combat racist violence, particularly to deal with the existence and activities of groups of skinheads.

Recommendations:

96. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to monitor the situation as regards the presence and activities of the right wing extremist and skinhead groups in Latvia. Measures should be taken to address this problem in a proactive way, including

³⁷ Press release from the Latvian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Latvia's Foreign Minister: "Mutual cooperation between government, media and community can help diminish prejudice", 10 February 2006.

³⁸ Concerning the police, see also above, Criminal law provisions, and Conduct of law enforcement officials.

through educational initiatives at school aimed at alerting young people of the dangers of racism and the need to fight against it. Such measures could be taken in co-operation with relevant NGOs working at grass-roots level.

97. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to make further efforts to take a more comprehensive approach to the phenomenon of racist violence, that does not focus exclusively on the promotion of tolerance and which includes the implementation of criminal law provisions aimed at combating racist violence. ECRI believes that an effective response to racist violence in Latvia also requires efforts to identify and address the causes underlying this violence.

- Use of racist expressions in the public discourse

- 98. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI underlined that it was fundamental that mainstream political parties take a clear stance against any extremist groups operating in Latvia.
- 99. ECRI notes that apparently no specific measures have been taken to deal with political parties whose members are responsible for racist acts or speech. However, numerous sources indicate that the recourse to racist expressions in public discourse, on the part of politicians as well as the media, more particularly in the written press and on the Internet, remains a problem and could even be on the increase. In the field of racism, intolerant speech takes two main forms in Latvia.
- 100. The first type of racist speech is geared towards immigrants, particularly newcomers, asylum seekers and refugees, and certain ethnic groups such as Roma. Religious minorities including Jews and Muslims are also a target of this discourse. Some politicians and the media express stereotypes and prejudice, and in some cases outright hate speech, towards these minority groups. As concerns Muslims, the main problem seems to lie in cases of sweeping statements associating Muslims with terrorism and in the existence of otherwise islamophobic speech, which are reflected in the media. All this has lead for instance, to initially negative reactions in the neighbourhood of a Muslim place of worship when it was opened. Antisemitic discourse is apparently increasing in Latvia, particularly on the Internet, for instance in the context of commemorations of the second world war events and the debate around the issue of a draft law on compensations for confiscated properties belonging to members of the Jewish communities before the second world war.
- 101. The second type of racist speech in Latvia relates to the interethnic relations between Latvians and the Russian-speaking population³⁹. Some media and some politicians, including from mainstream media and political parties, try to stir up interethnic tensions, mainly to attract voters and readers. They use intolerant speech to describe one group or the other. For instance, some Latvian media and politicians portray the Russian-speaking population as responsible for all the problems in the country, or as traitors or occupants who have no right to stay in the country and who should be expelled. On the other hand, some Russian-speaking media and politicians use generalisations to say that all Latvians are fascist, nationalists and intolerant people who impose "apartheid" on other ethnic groups. Regrettably, the intention is apparently to generate artificial tensions between two communities who live side by side in a peaceful manner. Such intolerant discourse is in stark contrast to the general behaviour of the society. In fact, surveys and polls clearly show that the two communities co-exist peacefully, with no serious tensions, even though they tend to keep to themselves⁴⁰. Such

³⁹ See also below, The situation of the Russian-speaking population.

⁴⁰ See below, The situation of the Russian-speaking population.

inflammatory speech can only be detrimental to the situation in the country. It is obvious that the conduct of media professionals as well as politicians has a great influence on the level of tensions in society at large.

- 102. ECRI notes with interest that the Latvian authorities have taken measures to promote tolerance within Latvian society⁴¹. There are also reports of positive initiatives by the media, particularly in response to several interventions from representatives of minorities who have complained to them about the existence of racist material. When representatives of minority groups have asked to have racist material removed or to be given a right to reply, the media concerned have usually responded in a positive way. Some media are also willing to publish information on the situation concerning racism and intolerance in Latvia. To mention only a few positive examples, in 2003, due to complaints from several sources, an advertisement for a political party was considered to be racist by a court and TV channels were not allowed to broadcast it anymore on these grounds. ECRI also notes the interesting initiative from civil society to adopt on 30 May 2006 a Declaration on Respect, Tolerance and Co-operation on the Internet, which was signed by the editors of Internet portals and representatives of associations, foundations, and public institutions. However ECRI has been informed that in practice, the presence of intolerant speech, particularly on public forums published on some portals which have signed the Declaration, has not really decreased since then.
- 103. ECRI believes that further steps should be taken to counter this phenomenon of the exploitation of intolerant discourse in politics and in the media. Where appropriate, Latvian authorities should make use of criminal law tools. This issue is addressed in another part of this report⁴². However, ECRI considers that there are complementary measures which could be taken to ensure that politicians and the media are not tempted to exploit interethnic tensions to further their own agenda. Such measures include self-regulatory mechanisms.
- 104. As far as the media are concerned, ECRI notes that there is no generally applicable code of conduct which could include guidelines on how to deal with the problems of racism and intolerance. Nor is there a self-regulatory mechanism which could intervene in the case of intolerant material published in the media. ECRI has been informed that in some instances the National Human Rights Office (now the Ombudsman) contacted a media to draw its attention to the inflammatory aspect of the material it had published. The Minister for Special Assignments for Society Integration has also tried to intervene in some cases, but with the result that some commentators described this action as a censorship of the press by the government. The main interest in setting up an internal code of conduct and a self-regulatory mechanism is to monitor and respond to the problem of racist discourse before other institutions, such as the government, have to intervene.
- 105. The Parliament has a Code of Ethics according to which a Member of Parliament should not appeal to race, gender, skin colour, nationality, language, religious beliefs, social origin or state of health to justify his/her argumentation. ECRI draws attention to the principles laid down in the Charter of European Political Parties for a Non-Racist Society and hopes that these principles would be reflected in political life in Latvia. ECRI insists on the fact that political parties must resist the temptation to approach issues relating to members of minority groups or to interethnic relations in a negative fashion and should instead emphasise the positive contribution made by different ethnic and minority groups

⁴¹ See also above, Education and awareness-raising.

⁴² See above, Criminal law provisions.

to Latvian society, economy and culture. Political parties should also take a firm stand against any form of racism and racial discrimination.

Recommendations:

- 106. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to take steps to counter the use of racist discourse in politics and in the media. To this end it recalls, in this particular context, its recommendations formulated above concerning the need to ensure an effective implementation of the existing legislation against incitement to racial hatred. The authorities could envisage launching a general debate on the need for self-regulatory mechanisms in the political and media fields as concerns the problem of intolerant speech.
- 107. In addition, ECRI calls on the Latvian authorities to adopt ad hoc legal provisions specifically targeting the use of racist discourse by representatives of political parties, including, for instance, legal provisions allowing for a ban on free access in the pre-election period to public radio and television for those political parties whose members are responsible for racist acts or speech. ECRI also recommends that the Parliament amend its Code of Ethics to explicitly ban incitement to racial or religious hatred by Members of Parliament and to foresee adequate sanctions for the violation of this norm. Furthermore, ECRI draws the attention of the Latvian authorities to the relevant provisions contained in its General Policy Recommendation N°7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, which provides guidelines in this field.
- 108. ECRI encourages the Latvian authorities to impress on the media, without encroaching on their editorial independence, the need to ensure that reporting does not contribute to creating an atmosphere of hostility and rejection towards members of any minority groups, including members of the Russian-speaking population, as well as immigrants particularly newcomers asylum seekers and refugees, certain ethnic groups such as Roma, and religious minorities such as Muslims or Jews. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities engage in a debate with the media and members of other relevant civil society groups on how this could best be achieved.

The situation of the Russian-speaking population

109. In its second report on Latvia, ECRI encouraged the Latvian authorities in their efforts to integrate ethnic Latvians and other ethnic groups – and particularly the Russian-speaking population - into one society, and hoped that this issue would be given the necessary political support as well as adequate resources. ECRI regrets that despite numerous initiatives taken by the authorities and described below as well as in other parts of this report, the situation has not really changed since its last report as far as the Russian-speaking population is concerned⁴³. While recognising that integration is an on-going mutual process requiring long-term policies whose results are not always easy to evaluate, ECRI would like to address in this section some aspects of integration which concern more particularly the Russian-speaking population and for which the Latvian authorities should continue and reinforce their efforts. Firstly, ECRI wishes to address the issue of citizenship, secondly the issues relating to the State language⁴⁴ and finally the issue of participation in public life for members of the Russian-speaking population.

⁴³ As concerns intolerant speech towards the Russian-speaking population, see above, The need to fight racism and intolerance in Latvia, Use of racist expressions in the public discourse.

⁴⁴ The issue of access to education of Russian-speaking children is dealt with in another part of the report, see above, Access to education of ethnic minorities.

- The issue of citizenship

- 110. In 1995 there were approximately 740 000 persons living in Latvia who did not hold Latvian citizenship. The law "on the Status of Former Soviet Union Citizens who are not citizens of Latvia or any other State" provided that this group of persons could exchange their former USSR passports or other personal documents containing the personal code of resident of Latvia, for Latvian noncitizen passports. The Law therefore created a special legal status, that of noncitizen, and defined the basic rights and obligations attached to this status. The number of non citizens is currently approximately 392 816 or 17 % of the total population (as of 1 January 2007). In its second report on Latvia, ECRI expressed concern at the slow pace of naturalisations of non-citizens. It considered that measures were urgently needed to enlarge the take-up of Latvian citizenship through the naturalisation process. The Latvian authorities have informed ECRI that since 1995, 127 244 persons have been granted Latvian citizenship. This means that the decrease in the number of non-citizens in Latvia is more linked to demographic factors - such as emigration - than to the actual rate of naturalisation.
- 111. The authorities have pointed out many legislative and other steps which have been taken to increase the number of persons being granted Latvian citizenship, either by naturalisation or by registration of their citizenship (mainly for children of non-citizens). The Latvian Naturalisation Board has multiplied the number of initiatives aimed at encouraging non-citizens to apply for naturalisation for themselves or for registration of their children born after 1991 as Latvian citizens. The naturalisation process has been facilitated on several occasions, either by reducing the fee for some social groups or by facilitating the exam procedure for some people, including disabled and elderly persons. In co-operation with international partners, the Latvian government provides Latvian language courses free of charge for naturalisation applicants who have to pass the Latvian language proficiency exam.
- 112. The latest changes to naturalisation regulations have been described by the authorities as facilitating the naturalisation of non-citizens. However, ECRI notes that some representatives of non-citizens have complained that the procedure remains cumbersome and time-consuming.
- 113. According to information available to ECRI, the main problem is that many people simply do not apply for naturalisation, for various reasons. Some of them lack motivation to apply, as they do not see any real benefit in becoming Latvian citizens. Others put forward ideological reasons for refusing to apply under the current conditions (i.e.: having to pass a Latvian language proficiency exam and an exam on history and the institutions of the Latvian State). They consider that this procedure is unfair and humiliating. Until now, no real solution has been found by the authorities to convince all these persons - who constitute a significant proportion of non-citizens - to apply for naturalisation. ECRI notes that Latvia does not recognise, except in very limited cases, the right to dual citizenship, a factor which may prevent those non-citizens who would be ready to take both Latvian and Russian (or other) citizenship from applying. The ratification of the European Convention on Nationality - which allows for multiple citizenship - would therefore be a step in the right direction in this respect⁴⁵. The naturalisation process remains slow. It cannot therefore be considered as a rapid solution to the unsatisfactory status of non-citizens as it stands in Latvia.
- 114. Generally, the authorities present the status of non-citizens as an advantageous position for the latter because it gives them specific rights including many

⁴⁵ See the Recommendation made above, International Legal Instruments.

fundamental social and economic rights, the right of exit and entry and the right to family reunification. This comes in stark contrast to the general position of noncitizens who consider that this status is insulting and humiliating. They stress that they are treated as "second-class citizens" and insist on the fact that until now they remain stateless even though most of them have resided for the most part of, if not all their lives in Latvia. Many underline that, after having voted in favour of independence, they were deceived by the authorities which did not grant them the automatic right to citizenship that was promised to them. Representatives of non-citizens and human rights NGOs stress that rather than benefiting from their own set of advantages, non-citizens suffer from significant discrimination in comparison to Latvians.

- 115. ECRI notes that the number of differences between Latvian citizens and noncitizens remains significant as far as some political, civil, social and other rights are concerned. Access to various professions within the civil service, such as public prosecutor, prison guard or labour inspector, remains closed to noncitizens, even if some improvements have recently been registered in this field. In addition, a non-citizen does not have access to several professions in the private sector linked to the judiciary, such as that of sworn advocate, sworn notary or their assistants. There are also differences concerning the restrictions relating to the right to acquire land with the exception of acquisition via inheritance. A major difference between Latvians and non-citizens lies in the fact that non-citizens are not entitled to participate in political elections neither as voters nor as candidates⁴⁶. All these disparities have become even more difficult to accept than before since the entry of Latvia into the European Union in 2004. Many noncitizens who have lived all their lives and pay taxes in Latvia do not understand why they should not be granted the rights they have been asking for since the independence in 1991 (such as the right to vote in municipal elections) and which are now available to EU citizens.
- 116. ECRI considers that there is an urgent need to solve the problems linked to the status of non-citizens as described above. This situation weighs on interethnic relations in Latvia and leads to people who make up a large part of the population living in Latvia (around 17%) feeling "tolerated" at best by the society within which they have been living for a long time.

Recommendations:

- 117. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to do their utmost to further facilitate the naturalisation process for non-citizens. To this end, they should consider making the requirements for the existing naturalisation procedures more flexible. They should also continue encouraging the take-up of Latvian citizenship by non-citizens through the naturalisation process.
- 118. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to look into the problem of the status of noncitizens with a view to finding rapid and humane solutions for persons who live under such a status. In particular, ECRI reiterates that the imbalance between the situation of non-citizens and the Latvians in a number of fields and for a number of rights should be addressed and remedied as a matter of priority. In particular, the Latvian authorities should review the list of professions which are not currently accessible to non-citizens.

- The issues relating to the State language

119. In its second report, ECRI addressed a number of issues relating to language law in Latvia. In particular, it asked that the 1999 State Language Law, which

⁴⁶ See below, The participation of the Russian-speaking population in the public and political life.

provides that Latvian is the State language, be kept under review as concerns the mandatory use of Latvian by public institutions on the one hand, and private organisations where there is a legitimate public interest on the other hand. ECRI considers that the State should encourage and help all persons living in Latvia, including the Russian-speaking population, to learn and speak Latvian so as to be able to integrate into society and enjoy genuine equality of opportunities. At the same time it should avoid any assimilation which would deprive ethnic minorities of the possibility or capability of using their own language. In Latvia, language has become an emotional and sometimes controversial issue, particularly between those who wish to defend Latvian as the only official language and as a tool for integration of the Latvian society, and those who fear that such a position is detrimental to minority languages and particularly to Russian. Therefore, solving the language issue is of key importance if Latvia is to avoid it becoming a cause of interethnic tensions and achieve a society where the different communities interact and live harmoniously⁴⁷.

- 120. The inspectors of the State Language Centre are responsible for supervising the implementation of the provisions of the State Language Law and for imposing fines under the Administration Violation Code in cases of violation of this Law. ECRI notes the existence of some criticism about State language inspectors who reportedly act sometimes in a "over-zealous" manner when imposing fines. Furthermore some representatives of the Russian-speaking population have alleged that in some cases, the publication in Russian of useful official information (for instance a municipal booklet on social benefits) has been prevented by the authorities, possibly under pressure from nationalist elements, despite the fact that such information would be of great use to those who speak only Russian. The Latvian authorities have assured ECRI that the State language inspectors intervene only where it is strictly necessary (for instance when there is a legitimate public interest in private organisations, as required by the Law). The authorities have not heard of cases of unlawful prohibition to publish a document in Russian. ECRI notes with interest that the OSCE High Commissioner on National Minorities published a "Practical Guide for the State Language Inspectors on the Implementation of the Latvian State Language Law" which gives all necessary guidelines ensuring that international human rights standards are respected in this field.
- 121. All studies on discrimination in employment in Latvia show that language is the main factor of discrimination in the workplace. Language skills play a significant role in access to employment and have an impact on the level of wages. It means that those who do not have a sufficient command of Latvian suffer from this disadvantage. This is partly due to the fact that the State Language Law requires that people should have a sufficient level of knowledge of the Latvian language, which varies according to the type of occupation of the person in question. It is for the employee has a sufficient command of Latvian with respect to his/her function. In this context, it is therefore essential that non-Latvian native speakers be given all opportunities to learn Latvian.
- 122. The lack of Latvian language proficiency also hinders communication with public bodies. The State Language Law requires that, with the exception of emergency situations, all documents issued in Latvia and submitted to public bodies in another language than Latvian shall be accepted if they are accompanied by a certified or authenticated translation. Reportedly, some detainees have complained about problems in fulfilling this requirement, which makes it difficult for them to enter into contact with public bodies. More generally, many representatives of the Russian-speaking population have asked for the possibility

⁴⁷ See also above, Use of racist expressions in the public discourse.

for members of this population to communicate with the authorities in Russian in places where they live compactly.

- 123. ECRI notes with satisfaction that the Latvian authorities have continued to implement and develop the National Programme for Latvian Language Training. In particular, in September 2004, the Government transformed the Unit implementing the National Programme into a permanent state institution, the National Agency for Latvian Language Training. This body is competent for developing teaching material to learn Latvian as a second language; to train Latvian language teachers; to organise courses of Latvian as a second language for a variety of target audiences including persons who try to increase their job opportunities by improving their Latvian or who wish to apply for naturalisation⁴⁸. This agency is also responsible for creating teaching material for schools. ECRI finds the initiative by this institution to publish from 2005 onwards a bilingual newspaper called "Keys" in Latvian and Russian particularly positive. This magazine appears to be an interesting project which should contribute to bridging the gap between the Latvian and Russian communities⁴⁹. In general, it is encouraging to note an overall improvement in Latvian language skills among the Russian-speaking population. It seems that while 22% of the total population in Latvia did not speak Latvian at all in 1996, only 12% were in this situation in 2003, and hopefully even fewer now.
- 124. As Latvian plays a crucial role in the integration of the labour market, it is all the more important that the level of knowledge of Latvian among non-native speakers and particularly Russian-speakers improve rapidly. However, encouragement to learn Latvian should not result in neglect of the minority languages and cultures that need preserving in the interests of basic cohesiveness of Latvian society. In this regard, ECRI believes that the ratification by Latvia of the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages would be a step in the right direction.

- 125. ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to take all necessary measures to ensure a balanced implementation of the State Language Law by the State language inspectors, particularly by giving due regard to human rights principles as indicated in the OSCE "Practical Guide for the State Language Inspectors on the Implementation of the Latvian State Language Law".
- 126. ECRI strongly encourages the Latvian authorities to give priority to constructive and non-obligatory measures, inciting the Russian-speaking population to learn and use Latvian in all cases where it should be used according to the law. Accessible and quality language training should remain a key element of such measures. In particular, the National Agency for Latvian Language Training should be given all the necessary human and financial resources to maintain and develop its activities.
- 127. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities take care to preserve and encourage the use of minority languages without infringing on the status and teaching of the official language. Ways should be found to reassure ethnic minorities that learning Latvian is not tantamount to an attack on the use of their native languages.

⁴⁸ See above, The issue of citizenship.

⁴⁹ Concerning the last point, see also below, the participation of the Russian-speaking population in the public and political life.

- The participation of the Russian-speaking population in public and political life

- 128. ECRI considers that Latvian society needs to be more integrated, particularly as concerns the Russian-speaking population. There remain a number of obstacles to the full participation of this population to the public and political life in Latvia which have to be removed as soon as possible. This population forms around 35% of the total population. Around 28.5% of the total population are ethnic Russians, while the remaining number (6.5%) corresponds to persons mainly from other former USSR Republics such as Belarus and Ukraine. ECRI stressed in its second report that language regulations governing political representation, difficult access to public employment, lack of citizenship as well as lack of proficiency in the Latvian language are amongst the factors explaining the current limited participation of members of the Russian-speaking population in public life in Latvia. Some obstacles have been removed but many remain, preventing members of the Russian-speaking population from fully participating in Latvian society.
- 129. As concerns lack of citizenship and as noted above, those Russian-speakers who are still non-citizens do not have the right to participate as voters or candidates in political elections despite numerous calls from this group and international bodies to give resident non-citizens at least the active and passive right to vote in municipal elections. ECRI regrets that in 2006, once more, a draft law to this effect was rejected by the Parliament⁵⁰. The authorities explain that they prefer that non-citizens apply for naturalisation and obtain the right to vote as citizens of Latvia. However, as noted above⁵¹, there are also difficulties as concerns naturalisation. People who complain about the refusal to grant the right to vote to non-citizens coupled with the slow process of naturalisation explain that this situation stems from the will not to dramatically change the political scene by giving to 17% of the population the possibility of influencing the electoral results.
- 130. As concerns the participation in political life of those members belonging to ethnic minorities who are Latvian citizens, ECRI expressed its concern in its second report on Latvia that the linguistic requirement for elected representatives might prove to be an additional barrier to the participation of non-ethnic Latvians in public life in Latvia. ECRI is pleased to learn that on 9 May 2002, the Saeima (Parliament) Election Law and the Law on Municipal, Regional and Local Elections were amended in order to remove the requirement for a candidate to those elections to attest his/her fluency in Latvian. However, even with the removal of this requirement, the representation of non-ethnic Latvians in political life remains weak. In its second report, ECRI noted that out of 100 Members of Parliament, only 16 where non-ethnic Latvians. The Latvian authorities have indicated that now there are 18 Members of Parliament who belong to ethnic minorities and four who have not indicated their ethnicity. It seems that ethnic minorities are seriously under-represented in public life. Another issue which was brought to the attention of ECRI is the lack of consultation of ethnic minorities, and in particular the Russian-speaking population, in the political decision-making process, even for those decisions which are of direct relevance to them. The authorities have stressed that they always try to consult ethnic minorities but it seems that this is not yet done in a satisfactory way.
- 131. Finally, ECRI would like to reiterate its concern at the considerable separation existing between Latvian-language and Russian-language media in Latvia⁵². As

⁵⁰ See also above the recommendation by ECRI to ratify the Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level, (International Legal Instruments).

⁵¹ See above, The issue of citizenship.

⁵² Concerning intolerant speech in the media, see above, Use of racist expressions in the public discourse.

stated in its second report, ECRI believes that this runs counter to efforts to favour the mutual integration of all groups constituting Latvian society. Latvianlanguage and Russian-language press report on different issues and events or on the same issues and events in a strikingly different fashion. This is particularly true with issues such as language, education, history or politics. A part of the Latvian-language press tends to ignore the point of view of minority groups, while Russian-language media are reported to be critical of the Latvian authorities and to tend to focus on minority issues. ECRI regrets that the situation has not changed much in this respect. Even though it is not rare for the relationship to be constructive at an individual level, in general, the Russian-speaking population remains too separate from the Latvian-speaking population for linguistic and many other reasons. In some regions where the Russian-speaking population forms a majority (such as in Daugavpils, where they represent more than 80% of the whole population), many of them tend to keep to themselves, without real contacts with ethnic Latvians and without really being aware of, or interested in the life of the ethnic Latvians. In general, Latvians themselves should be encouraged to make further efforts to learn more about the ethnic minorities living in their country. However, as noted in other parts of this report⁵³, some initiatives have been taken on the part of the authorities or by private parties to foster dialogue and mutual understanding between the two populations, notably through the media. Many more measures of that sort must be taken in order to achieve a fully integrated Latvian society whereby people of different backgrounds do not only live side-by-side but also interact in a peaceful and constructive manner.

- 132. Noting that most non-citizens have resided in the country for most or all of their lives, ECRI urges the Latvian authorities to confer eligibility and voting rights to resident non-citizens in local elections.
- 133. ECRI recommends that the Latvian authorities take all necessary measures to encourage and ensure the participation of ethnic minorities in the political process, in political elected bodies and in the public service.
- 134. ECRI strongly recommends that in their efforts to foster an integrated society in Latvia the Latvian authorities put a particular emphasis on the situation of the Russian-speaking population and take all necessary measures which will help this population to become and feel accepted as an intrinsic element of Latvian society. To this end, the authorities should continue and reinforce their efforts to establish means for constructive co-operation with representatives of the Russian-speaking population.

⁵³ See above, The need to combat racism and intolerance in Latvia.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

This bibliography lists the main published sources used during the examination of the situation in Latvia it should not be considered as an exhaustive list of all sources of information available to ECRI during the preparation of the report.

- 1. CRI (2002) 21: Second Report on Latvia, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), Council of Europe, 23 July 2002
- 2. CRI (99) 8: Report on Latvia, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), Council of Europe, 13 March 1999
- 3. CRI (96) 43: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 1: Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, October 1996
- 4. CRI (97) 36: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 2: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 1997
- 5. CRI (98) 29: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°3: Combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 1998
- CRI (98) 30: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°4: National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 1998
- CRI (2000) 21: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°5: Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 2000
- 8. CRI (2001) 1: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°6: Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, December 2000
- 9. CRI (2003) 8: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°7: National legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, December 2002
- CRI (2004) 26: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°8: Combating racism while fighting terrorism, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 2004
- 11. CRI (2004) 37: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°9: The fight against antisemitism, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 2004
- 12. CRI (2007) 6: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°10 on combating racism and racial discrimination in and through school education, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, December 2006
- CRI (2007) 39: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n°11 on combating racism and racial discrimination in policing, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 2007
- 14. CRI (98) 80 rev 4: Legal measures to combat racism and intolerance in the member States of the Council of Europe, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, 31 December 2005
- CommDH(2004)3: Commissioner for Human Rights, Report by Mr Alvaro Gil-Robles, Commissioner for Human Rights, on his visit to Latvia, 5-8 October 2003, Council of Europe, 12 February 2004
- CommDH(2007)9: Commissioner for Human Rights, Memorandum to the Latvian Government: Assessment of the progress made in implementing the 2003 recommendations of the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Council of Europe, 16 May 2007
- 17. Parliamentary Assembly Recommendation 1772 (2006), Rights of national minorities in Latvia, Council of Europe, 17 November 2006

- 18. Parliamentary Assembly Resolution 1527 (2006), Rights of national minorities in Latvia, Council of Europe, 17 November 2006
- 19. Parliamentary Assembly Recommendation 1766 (2006), Ratification of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities by the member States of the Council of Europe, Council of Europe, 4 October 2006
- 20. Doc. 11094: Parliamentary Assembly Committee on Legal Affairs and Human Rights, Rights of national minorities in Latvia, Council of Europe, 8 November 2006
- ACFC/SR(2006)001: Report submitted by Latvia pursuant to Article 25, paragraph 1 of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, Council of Europe, 11 October 2006
- 22. CERD/C/63/CO/7: Concluding observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination: Latvia, United Nations,10 December 2003
- 23. 2006 RAXEN Data Collection, National Report, EUMC Racism and Xenophobia Information Network (RAXEN), National Focal Point for Latvia, 2006 (under publication)
- 24. Ministry of Interior of the Republic of Latvia, Office of Citizenship and Migration Affairs, Public Report 2005
- 25. Summary of the PHARE National Programme 2003 Projects "Promotion of Society Integration in Latvia" and "Development and Strengthening of Civic Society in Latvia", Society Integration Foundation, February 2007
- 26. Closing Conference of PHARE 2002 Projects Facilitation of the Integration of the Society in Latvia and Development and Strengthening of the Civic Society in Latvia, December 20, 2005, Conference Centre of Reval Hotel Latvia, Society Integration Foundation
- 27. Artis Pabriks, Occupational Representation and Ethnic Discrimination in Latvia, The Soros Foundation Latvia, 2002
- 28. Latvian Centre for Human Rights and Ethnic Studies, The Situation of Roma in Latvia, Riga 2003
- 29. Gita Feldhune, Report on measures to combat discrimination Country Report Latvia, European Network of Legal Experts in the non-discrimination field, 10 December 2004
- 30. Latvian Centre for Human Rights and Ethnic Studies, Diversity in Latvian Textbooks, November 2004
- 31. EUMC RAXEN_CC National Focal Point Latvia (Latvian Centre for Human Rights and Ethnic Studies), Minority Education in Latvia, EUMC, Vienna 2004
- 32. Baltic Institute of Social Sciences, Integration of Minority Youth in the Society of Latvia in the Context of the Education Reform, Riga 2004
- 33. Baltic Institute of Social Sciences, Ethnic Tolerance and Integration of the Latvian Society, Riga 2004
- Jean-Yves Camus, The use of racist, antisemitic and xenophobic arguments in political discourse, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), Council of Europe, March 2005
- 35. Baltic Institute of Social Sciences, Ethnopolitical Tension in Latvia: Looking for the Conflict Solution, Riga 2005
- 36. Dace Lukumiete, ENAR Shadow Report 2005 Racism in Latvia, ENAR
- 37. Svetlana Djackova, Latvian Language Proficiency and the Integration of Society, Public Policy Providus, Soros Foundation Latvia, the Open Society Institute Justice Programme and the Local Government and Public Service Initiative, 2004
- 38. Ilvija Puce, Report on the Situation of Fundamental Rights in Latvia in 2005, EU Network of Independent Experts on Fundamental Rights, 15 December 2005
- 39. Maria Golubeva, The Case for Diversity Mainstreaming in the National School System, Centre for Public Policy Providus and the Soros Foundation - Latvia, 2006
- 40. Nils Muižnieks (dir.), Latvian-Russian Relations: Domestic and International Dimensions, University of Latvia 2006
- 41. The Last Prisoners of the Cold War The Stateless People of Latvia in their own Words, The Greens/European Free Alliance in the European Parliament, Riga 2006

- 42. Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe High Commissioner on National Minorities, Implementation of the Latvian State Language Law – A Practice Guide for the State Language Inspectors, The Hague 2006
- 43. Baltic Institute for Social Sciences, Integration Practice and Perspectives, Riga 2006
- 44. The Baltic Times, Roma woman breaks legal barrier for minorities, 31 May 2006
- 45. U.S. Department of State, Latvia: Country Reports on Human Rights Practices 2006, Released by the Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights and Labour, 6 March 2007
- 46. U.S. Department of State, Latvia: International Religious Freedom Report 2006, Released by the Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights and Labour, 15 September 2006
- 47. International Helsinki Federation, IHF Report 2006 Human Rights in the OSCE Region